#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-21 Lower Tribunal Nos.: 3D08-1713, 01-13868

BANCO INDUSTRIAL DE VENEZUELA, C.A., MIAMI AGENCY, a foreign corporation; and BIV INVESTMENTS AND MANAGEMENT, INC., a Florida corporation, a/k/a BIV INVERSORES Y PROMOTORES,

Petitioners,

v.

ESPERANZA DE SAAD and, JOSEPH BEELER, P.A.,

**Respondents.** 

#### **PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case will determine whether Florida law (as set forth in § 607.0850, Fla. Stat.) mandates that a corporate officer who knowingly commits a crime for personal gain is entitled to mandatory indemnification merely because the officer pleads guilty to a lesser crime than originally charged by the government.

This case presents this issue of great public importance through glaring facts. Esperanza de Saad ("de Saad") was vice-president and general manager of an international bank with an agency in Miami-Banco Industrial de Venezuela, C.A., Miami Agency ("BIV-Miami Agency").<sup>1</sup> She was responsible for assuring BIV's compliance with federal and state law. Yet, during an undercover sting operation, de Saad knowingly violated federal law by facilitating the deposit of roughly \$4 million in drug proceeds into BIV accounts. A jury found de Saad guilty of eleven counts of money laundering and conspiracy to launder money, but the trial judge set the verdict aside. The federal government appealed, and while the appeal was pending, de Saad pled guilty to felony money structuring on the condition that the government drop its appeal. She paid a \$50,000 fine, was sentenced to probation, and agreed to never again be employed by a financial institution in the United States without the government's prior express written consent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioners BIV-Miami Agency (a foreign corporation authorized to conduct banking business in Florida) and its Florida subsidiary, BIV Investments and Management, Inc., are referred to collectively in this brief as "BIV."

De Saad then sued BIV seeking indemnification for her criminal defense fees. She also sought damages for breach of her employment contract. The trial court, on summary judgment, required BIV to pay over \$4.5 million to indemnify de Saad despite her guilty plea, and it required BIV to pay over \$1 million in damages to de Saad under her employment contract, finding that BIV's suspension of her during the criminal proceedings was a breach of the contract even though she was wholly unavailable to perform her job duties while in jail and on trial in California for money laundering. The Third DCA affirmed. <u>Banco Industrial de</u> <u>Venezuela, C.A., v. De Saad, 21 So. 3d 46 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) (App. A).</u>

This case presents a series of important questions with statewide impact for all corporations doing business in Florida. The <u>first</u> is whether Florida mandates indemnification for a corporate officer who knowingly breaks the law for personal gain and pleads guilty to a felony charge arising from that conduct. Both the Third DCA and trial court said "yes," holding indemnification was required as a matter of law. In doing so, the lower courts concluded de Saad was "successful on the merits or otherwise" under subsection (3) of Florida's indemnification law because even though pleading guilty to a felony, she avoided further jail time. The lower courts concluded that de Saad was charged in her criminal proceeding "by virtue of the fact she was an officer" and was not required to meet the other requirements of subsection (1) of the statute—that is, to show she acted in good faith, in the best

interests of the company, and without knowledge that her conduct was unlawful. The lower courts further concluded that subsection (7) of the statute did not apply to a mandatory indemnification claim under subsection (3). In requiring indemnification, the Third DCA misapprehended Florida law and disregarded the significant differences between Delaware's and Florida's indemnification statutes. Florida's Legislature, as a matter of public policy, enacted an statute that prohibits a corporate officer from seeking indemnification if the officer knowingly violated the law or obtained an improper personal benefit. § 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat. The lower courts ignored Florida's requirements for indemnification and instead adopted Delaware law, even though Delaware has no similar prohibition as that set forth in Florida's subsection (7). In doing so, the Third DCA's opinion created a direct and express conflict with Alternative Development, Inc. v. St. Lucie Club & Apt. Homes Condo. Ass'n, 608 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992)

The <u>second</u> question is whether the Third DCA correctly held, in conflict with several other DCAs, that a trial court can grant summary judgment on a breach of contract claim where it must pick between reasonable contract interpretations, resolve ambiguities, and disregard a party's failure to reasonably mitigate damages. The <u>third</u> question is whether the trial court's unprecedented award of indemnification for loans and loan interests for, among other items, living expenses, withstands scrutiny. And finally, the <u>fourth</u> question is whether

Florida's indemnification statute even applies to foreign corporations like BIV, given that the Florida Business Corporation Act clearly states it does not regulate the "internal affairs" of foreign corporations.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### A. Nature of the Case

BIV appeals the Third DCA's conclusion that a corporate officer who knowingly engages in criminal conduct, and pleads guilty to a federal felony charge arising from that conduct, can nonetheless force indemnification on the theory that she negotiated a plea deal to a lesser crime than originally charged by the government. <u>App. A</u>. BIV also appeals the Third DCA's holding that de Saad was entitled to summary judgment for breach of contract because BIV suspended her pending resolution of the criminal charges against her. <u>Id.</u> BIV further asserts that the Third DCA wrongly decided the threshold issue whether BIV-Miami Agency, a foreign corporation, is even subject to Florida's indemnification statute. <u>De Saad v. Banco Indus. de Venezuela</u>, 843 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This Court can consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based when they are properly raised and argued. <u>See Boca Burger, Inc. v. Forum</u>, 912 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 2005); <u>Murray v. Regier</u>, 872 So. 2d 217, 223 n.5 (Fla. 2002).

The trial court's summary judgment rulings are found at App. 22, 45, 47, and 51.<sup>3</sup> The trial court's final judgment assessed BIV with \$4.5 million in indemnification damages and \$1.1 million in contract damages. App. 52. The Third DCA's decision is at App. A. The Court granted review on March 15, 2010.

#### **B.** Statutory Background.

The Florida Business Corporation Act ("Act") distinguishes between entities incorporated in Florida and those incorporated elsewhere. § 607.01401(5), (12), Fla. Stat. While a foreign corporation authorized to transact business in Florida has the same rights, privileges, duties, restrictions, penalties, and liabilities as a domestic corporation, § 607.1505(2), Fla. Stat., the Act does not regulate "internal affairs" of foreign corporations. § 607.1505(3), Fla. Stat.

A domestic corporation's indemnification of corporate officers is governed by § 607.0850, Fla. Stat. According to the Third DCA, so too is a foreign corporation's indemnification of corporate officers. This statute grants a corporation discretion to indemnify corporate officers in certain situations,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "App. \_" refers to the tab of the appendix filed with this Initial Brief.

§ 607.0850(1), and requires indemnification in other situations, § 607.0850(3).<sup>4</sup> It also precludes indemnification—entirely—where a final judgment establishes that the corporate officer's actions that led to the judgment violated criminal law or provided an improper personal benefit to the corporate officer. § 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat.<sup>5</sup>

(3) To the extent that a director, officer, employee, or agent of a corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in subsection (1) or subsection (2), or in defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, he or she shall be indemnified against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection therewith.

§§ 607.0850(1), (3), Fla. Stat. (emphases added).

<sup>5</sup> Section 607.0850(7) states in relevant part:

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided <u>pursuant to this</u> <u>section</u> are not exclusive, and a corporation may make any other or further indemnification or advancement of expenses of any of its directors, officers, employees, or agents, under any bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise . . . However, <u>indemnification or</u> <u>advancement of expenses shall not be made to or on behalf of any director,</u> <u>officer, employee, or agent if a judgment or other final adjudication</u> <u>establishes that his or her actions, or omissions to act, were material to the</u> <u>cause of action so adjudicated and constitute</u>:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 607.0850(1) and (3) state in relevant part:

<sup>(1)</sup> A corporation shall have power to indemnify any person who was or is a party to any proceeding . . . <u>by reason of the fact</u> that he or she is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation . . . against liability incurred in connection with such proceeding, including any appeal thereof, <u>if</u> <u>he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed</u> to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. \*\*\*

#### C. Factual Background

De Saad is a Venezuelan national who was employed by BIV-Miami Agency as its vice-president and general manager from 1994 until May 25, 1998. App. 7 at 19, 37. She was BIV-Miami Agency's highest ranking officer in Florida and was responsible for compliance with federal and state law. <u>Id.</u> at 37, 51-52.

De Saad negotiated and entered into a 26-month employment contract with BIV in December 1997. App. 7 at 90, App. 9. Her contract required her to "devote all her time and effort to the business of [BIV-Miami Agency] and under no circumstances shall she engage during the term of this Contract in any type of activity or business, financial or otherwise, such as financial gain, profits, or any other pecuniary activity, that may interfere with her functions and responsibilities as an Employee." App. 9 at § I. It incorporated the policies outlined in BIV-Miami Agency's personnel manual. <u>Id.</u> at § XII(c) and § XIII; App. 7 at 92-93. The personnel manual specified that employees "should avoid even the appearance of legal or ethical impropriety in all their actions" and that BIV-Miami Agency

<sup>(</sup>a) <u>A violation of the criminal law</u>, unless the director, officer, employee, or agent had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; [or]

<sup>(</sup>b) A transaction from which the director, officer, employee, or agent derived <u>an improper personal benefit;</u> . . . .

<sup>§ 607.0850(7),</sup> Fla. Stat. (emphases added).

"expects the full, faithful and conscientious performance of duties by each officer and employee in the best interests of the Bank." App. 27 at 43.

Despite these contractual obligations, de Saad was arrested in the federal government's undercover sting operation "Operation Casablanca," which targeted the laundering of drug money. Fred Menoza, "a government informant, known money launderer, and drug dealer" had opened two accounts at BIV-Miami Agency through de Saad. App. 1 at ¶¶ 13, 17; App. 7 at 168. Mendoza and de Saad met many times after he opened the accounts, and she offered him advice about the pros and cons of Swiss banks accounts and Bahamian banks. App. 1 at ¶¶ 21-23, 27, 28; App. 7 at 141-142, 192. De Saad told Mendoza that she would provide this advice only if her name was kept secret. She also recruited another employee to assist her in providing advice to Mendoza. App. 37 at 153-156.

Carmen Salima Irigoyen ("Salima"), another individual caught in the sting operation, met and spoke with de Saad many times as Mendoza's "lawyer." <u>See, e.g.</u>, App. 1 at ¶¶ 13, 17; App. 7 at 139-140, 176-177, 215. In early 1998, Salima attempted to cash a \$20,000 check at BIV-Miami Agency to give to de Saad. App. 1 at ¶ 25; App. 24 at 3. De Saad had the \$20,000 check divided into four separate \$5,000 checks to avoid having a Currency Transaction Report generated, "which she knew would have happened if a single \$20,000 check had

been cashed." App. 24 at 3; <u>accord</u> App. 7 at 241-242.<sup>6</sup> De Saad had BIV employees cash the checks on separate days to avoid reporting requirements. App. 24 at 3; App. 7 at 242-243; App. 1 at ¶ 26. She had the cash from one check deposited into her personal bank account. App. 24 at 3-4; App. 7 at 242-243. She admitted in pleading guilty that she "acted for the purpose of evading [CTR] requirement." App. 24 at 4.

As a result of Operation Casablanca, the U.S. government indicted de Saad and others for money laundering on May 14, 1998. App. 11 at Dkt. Entry # 1; <u>see also</u> App. 23. BIV immediately suspended her until her guilt or innocence was determined. App. 8; App. 14 at 44. De Saad's employment contract provided that BIV could terminate her at any time if she was "arrested or imprisoned for a felony, fraud, insubordination, dishonest behavior," and the personnel manual incorporated therein provided that BIV would have grounds to immediately terminate or suspend her employment "pending clarification of charges" and "[c]onclusive evidence of dishonesty or involvement in a misdemeanor or felony." App. 9 at § VI; App. 27 at 32. A few months later, de Saad told a BIV employee

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Under the Bank Secrecy Act, all financial institutions must file a Currency Transaction Report, or "CTR," on any transaction that generates \$10,000 in cash for or on behalf of the same person on the same business day. The CTR is designed to combat illegal sources of revenue, and the circumvention of this requirement—for example, by breaking a single currency transaction into multiple transactions of values less than \$10,000—is known as "structuring." <u>See</u> 31 U.S.C. \$ 5313 (CTR requirement); 31 U.S.C. \$ 5324 (structuring prohibition).

who had cashed one of the \$5,000 checks for her that "what she was worried about were the checks," that "the only proof that they had were the checks," and that "the only problem, big problem, she had was were [sic] the checks cashed by us." App. 12 at 26-29; see also App. 32 at 124-126.

De Saad's criminal case went to trial in December 1999.<sup>7</sup> She hired four law firms to defend her, including Joseph Beeler, P.A. ("Beeler"), to which she assigned her right to indemnification. App. 13 at ¶ 9, App. 7 at 423. On December 20, 1999, the jury found her guilty of all eleven counts. App. 16 at 20-7, 20-8. The trial court set aside the jury's verdict, App. 10, but noted that although he felt the government had failed to prove de Saad's involvement in money laundering "beyond a reasonable doubt," the government had presented evidence that she "received four \$5,000 checks from Salima for the services she provided, and a jury certainly could have considered her receipt of the checks and the manner in which they were cashed as evidence of some wrongdoing." <u>Id.</u> at 23, 25.

The government appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. App. 11 at Dkt. Entry 465. While the appeal was pending, Beeler negotiated a guilty plea for de Saad to the felony crime of "Structuring a Monetary Transaction in violation of Title 31 U.S.C. §5324(a)(3)"—in exchange for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Because de Saad's guilt or innocence remained unclear in November 1999, BIV notified her that her contract was not being renewed in accord with the 60-day notice provision in the contract. App. 15; App. 9 at § VII.

government's dismissal of its appeal. App. 24. Her plea was directly based on evidence about the four \$5,000 checks identified in the Second Superseding Indictment, offered as evidence during the trial, and referred to by the trial judge as evidence of "wrongdoing." App. 23 at ¶¶ 45-50; App. 10 at 23; App. 7 at 396-398. Her plea was filed in the same criminal case, before the same federal judge, with de Saad and the government represented by the same attorneys. App. 7 at 160-161; App. 11. In connection with her guilty plea, de Saad was fined \$50,000, sentenced to one year of probation, and agreed never to seek or accept employment with any financial institution in the United States without the prior express written consent of the U.S. Attorneys' Office. In return, the government withdrew its Ninth Circuit appeal. App. 24 at 6-8; App. 17. The lengthy criminal proceedings against her came to an end after, and because, she pled guilty to a felony crime.

There is no question that de Saad's conduct harmed BIV. Because Venezuela owns BIV-Miami Agency, her misconduct implied that Venezuela was involved in laundering money. App. 14 at 53. A federal grand jury, the U.S. Federal Reserve, and the State of New York investigated BIV-Miami Agency. App. 18; App. 19; App. 20. And BIV-Miami Agency had to defend two lawsuits. <u>See United States v. Banco Industrial de Venezuela</u>, No. 8:00-cv-373 (C.D. Cal.) (filed Apr. 17, 2000); <u>United States v. \$4,007,891.28 seized from</u> <u>Banco Industrial de Venezuela</u>, No. 2:98-cv-5762 (C.D. Cal.) (filed July 17, 1998). After years of litigation, BIV-Miami Agency prevailed in one case (No. 2:98-cv-5762, transferred to No. 2:99-cv-1373). In the other, the government ultimately dismissed its claims after determining that de Saad "was the only BIV employee who had actual knowledge of, and participated in, the conspiracy to launder drug proceeds through BIV [and] that in doing so, de Saad personally benefited and that BIV acted appropriately in suspending de Saad from her position without pay as General Manager of the Miami Agency once it learned of her activities." App. 29 at ¶ 4.

#### **D.** Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

### 1. De Saad And Beeler File Suit Against BIV.

Shortly after pleading guilty, de Saad sued BIV for indemnification of her attorneys' fees and costs in the criminal proceedings under § 607.0850, Fla. Stat., and for breach of contract because BIV suspended her while she was under arrest and on trial. Four years later, Beeler intervened based on de Saad's assignment of her indemnification right to him. He filed a parallel two-count complaint. App. 5.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> BIV-Miami Agency asserted counterclaims based on the damages it incurred from de Saad's misconduct: the significant costs of the federal, state, and internal investigations and litigation to which it was subjected, and the loss of use of bank funds. App. 4; App. 6. The trial court granted partial summary judgment against BIV-Miami Agency on its counterclaims, holding that it could not recover for damages incurred defending the governmental proceedings. App. 48. This ruling is in error for many of the same reasons that the indemnity and breach of contract summary judgment rulings were in error. It should be vacated for reevaluation in light of the Court's holding as to the indemnity and breach of contract claims.

## 2. After The Third DCA Holds That Foreign Corporations Are Subject to Florida's Indemnification Statute, The Trial Court Grants Summary Judgment Against BIV On Indemnification.

The threshold issue on the indemnification claim was whether Florida's indemnification statute applies to foreign corporations. On a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court held that the statute was facially inapplicable to foreign corporations and dismissed the claim. As the trial court reasoned, Chapter 607 defines corporation, as used in the indemnification statute, to mean only entities incorporated in Florida. The Third DCA reversed. <u>De Saad</u>, 843 So. 2d at 954. The Third DCA concluded although the indemnification statute is limited to Florida corporations, another statutory provision makes foreign corporations subject to the same duties and liabilities as domestic corporations. <u>Id.</u> (citing § 607.1505(2), Fla. Stat.). The Third DCA rejected the argument that indemnification was part of the "internal affairs" of a foreign corporation that Florida does not regulate. § 607.1505(3), Fla. Stat.

On remand and after discovery, BIV and de Saad both moved for summary judgment on indemnification. BIV argued that de Saad had assigned her entire indemnification claim to Beeler and therefore had no claim left to pursue. The trial court rejected this argument based on unspecified "material issues in dispute." App. 21 at 90-91. The trial court also rejected, initially, de Saad's suggestion that the felony structuring guilty plea was an "unrelated" charge, given the

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