#### THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **CASE NO. SC10-21**

\_\_\_\_\_

BANCO INDUSTRIAL DE VENEZUELA, C.A., MIAMI AGENCY, a foreign corporation; and BIV INVESTMENTS AND MANAGEMENT, INC., a Florida corporation a/k/a BIV INVERSORES Y PROMOTORES,

Petitioners,

VS.

#### ESPERANZA DE SAAD and JOSEPH BEELER, P.A.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT
CASE NO. 3D08-1713

\_\_\_\_\_

# RESPONDENT, ESPERANZA DE SAAD'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PETROS & ELEGANT 4090 Laguna Street, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Coral Gables, Florida 33146 Telephone: (305) 446-3699 Facsimile: (305) 446-2799 *Trial Counsel for Respondent*,

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

BIV improperly focuses on the style of the criminal case and ignores the allegations of the Second Superseding Indictment which, as the district court properly noted, charged de Saad with ten counts of money laundering and one count of conspiracy to launder money while acting in her capacity as the vice-president of BIV. (R.LVIIII, 7404).

The Third District noted the analogous case of *Perconti*, in which a Delaware court correctly granted summary judgment concluding that similar

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See also Heffernan v. Pac. Dunlop GNB Corp., 965 F.2d 369 (7th Cir. 1992) ("To determine whether Heffernan was sued 'by reason of the fact' that he was a director . . . we begin by reviewing the allegations in the underlying action's complaint."); Wanzer, 1990 WL 91100 at \*7-8 (concluding Wanzer was sued in underlying action "by reason of the fact" that he was a director of the corporation based upon allegations of amended complaint).

charges in an indictment demonstrated the defendant was charged "by reason of the fact" that he was a corporate officer. *Perconti*, 2002 WL 982419 at \*1. In that case, Perconti sought indemnification for a criminal proceeding that he contended was dependent upon alleged breaches of his corporate authority and fiduciary duties he owed the company as president and CEO. *Id.* at \*3. Interpreting the meaning of "by reason of the fact," the court concluded that only a causal connection or nexus between the charges alleged in the criminal proceeding and the corporate function of Perconti was required. *Id.* <sup>15</sup> The court explained, "[i]f the conduct resulting in the prosecution was done in his capacity as a corporate officer, without regard to what his motivation may have been, then the ensuing prosecution was 'by reason of the fact that' he was a corporate officer." *Id.* 

The court concluded that Perconti was charged "by reason of the fact" that he was a corporate officer where the crimes he was charged with occurred because of his status as an officer of the corporation. *Id.* at \*6-7. The court explained:

The inquiry, in these circumstances, is into whether the criminal scheme is alleged to have employed the corporate powers (or, for example, confidential inside information acquired through the corporate status) conferred upon the officer by virtue of his status.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See also In re Miller, 290 F.3d 263, 267 (5th Cir. 2002) (the language "by reason of the fact" requires "no more than a <u>nexus</u> between the corporate officers' or directors' official activity and the matter for which indemnification is sought."); Westphal v. U.S. Eagle Corp., 2002 WL 31820973 (Del. Ch. Nov. 27, 2002) (interpreting "by reason of the fact" as "convey[ing] the concept of a causal connection or nexus between . . . the charges alleged in the prior proceedings and the corporate function or 'official corporate capacity'").

Here, Perconti's use of the corporate powers entrusted to him was critical to, and instrumental in, the carrying out of the scheme in which he participated and because of which the Indictment issued.

Id. See also Merritt-Chapman, 321 A.2d at 142 (holding on summary judgment that chairman and president of corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary was charged in an indictment "by reason of the fact" that he was an employee of the corporation where an indictment charged him with participation in a plan to cause the corporation to secretly purchase hundreds of thousands of shares of its own stock, in violation of federal securities laws); Homestore, Inc. v. Tafeen, 888 A.2d 204 (Del. 2005) (on summary judgment, holding vice president of corporation was charged "by reason of the fact" that he was an officer of the corporation based upon Perconti); Reddy v. Elec. Data Sys., 2002 WL 1358761 (Del. Ch. June 18, 2002) (granting summary judgment and finding vice president of company was charged "by reason of the fact" that he was an employee of the company in both a criminal indictment and a civil suit notwithstanding allegations in both suits that the employee acted based upon personal greed).

Likewise, de Saad was charged with crimes that were alleged to have occurred because of her status as an officer of BIV. Without that status, she would not have had the opportunity to allegedly assist in laundering money by opening accounts, withdrawing funds, or alerting others if any inquiries were made into the illegal use of the accounts. As in *Perconti*, de Saad's alleged use of the corporate

powers entrusted to her was instrumental to carrying out the actions alleged in the Second Superseding Indictment. Accordingly, the Indictment demonstrated a clear nexus between de Saad's official activity and the money laundering and conspiracy charges, and summary judgment was correctly entered on this basis.

BIV relies upon cases that stand for the proposition, generally, that whether an employee's actions fall within the scope of employment is a factual question. (IB, p. 34).<sup>16</sup> These cases are inapplicable. The question of whether de Saad's actions fell within the scope of her employment is irrelevant under subsection (3). If the Legislature had intended indemnification to apply only in circumstances where an officer is acting within the scope of his or her employment, it would have included such language in the statute.

Finally, the bank relies on out-of-state decisions where it was determined, based on the particular facts of those cases, that issues of material fact existed as to whether the individuals were sued "by reason of the fact" that they were corporate officers. *See In re Miller*, 290 F.3d at 267; *Westphal*, 2002 WL 31820973 at \*1.<sup>17</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Gabor & Co. v. Gabor, 569 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), and *Blatt v. Panelfab Int'l Corp.*, 314 So. 2d 196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), are similarly inapplicable. Neither case discusses the underlying complaint or any facts about the underlying action, and it is impossible to determine why the district court concluded that issues of fact remained.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> First Am. Corp. v. Al-Nahyan, 17 F. Supp. 2d 10, 30 (D.D.C. 1998), cited by BIV, is inapplicable. The Virginia statute in that case requires a stricter indemnification standard than Florida -- complete success and that the director must be made a party to the proceeding "because he is or was a director of the

Unlike these cases, the clear allegations of the underlying Indictment established that de Saad was charged by reason of her status as a BIV vice president.

## II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED ON THE BREACH OF CONTRACT COUNT.

De Saad respectfully submits that the Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction to review the breach of contract claim. There is no conflict between the Third District's decision below and any decision relied upon by BIV, nor does claim involve a matter of public importance. As such, the Court's exercise of jurisdiction would amount to nothing more than second-tier appellate review. In any event, summary judgment was properly entered in favor of de Saad.

# A. BIV's Unreasonable Interpretation of the Contract did not Preclude Entry of Summary Judgment.

BIV erroneously argues that summary judgment was inappropriate on the breach of contract claim because it claims the employment contract was susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. BIV has asserted conflict with *Fecteau v. S.E. Bank, N.A.*, 585 So. 2d 1005 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), and *Langford v. Paravant, Inc.*, 912 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005), which hold that when a contract is <u>ambiguous</u>, and the parties present two <u>reasonable</u>

corporation"). *H.R. Plate v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California*, 225 Cal. App. 3d 1115, 1118-19, 1122 (Cal. Ct. App. 1990), cited by BIV, is also inapplicable. That case involves an indemnification provision that, unlike here, required the officer to meet particular standards of conduct set forth in the statute.

33

interpretations of the contractual language, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Fecteau*, 585 So. 2d at 1007; *Langford*, 912 So. 2d at 360-61.

The lower courts correctly determined that the employment contract was unambiguous, and that BIV's interpretation that it could suspend de Saad without pay indefinitely was not reasonable.

The meaning of a contract and its effect are matters of law, not fact. *See Paladyne Corp. v. Weindruch*, 867 So. 2d 630, 633 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); *Leseke v. Nutaro*, 567 So. 2d 949, 950 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990). It is well settled that where the terms of a contract are unambiguous, the parties' intent must be determined from the four corners of the document. *See Barakat v. Broward County Hous. Auth.*, 771 So. 2d 1193, 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). In construing a contract, courts are required to read provisions harmoniously to give effect to all portions of the contract, and to give effect to every term in the agreement. *See Paladyne Corp.*, 867 So. 2d at 631. Additionally, "words in a contract are presumed to have been used with their ordinary and customary meaning." *KEL Homes, LLC v. Burris*, 933 So. 2d 699, 702 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). *See also Barakat*, 771 So. 2d at 1195.

De Saad's employment contract with BIV provided for a two-year term, beginning on December 1, 1997, to renew automatically for periods of two years. (R.V.14, 2431). The contract permitted BIV to terminate the contract at any time prior to the date of termination for a duly justified reason, which under the contract

includes if she "is arrested or imprisoned for a felony, fraud, insubordination, dishonest behavior," not related to the obligations set forth in the contract, or for "immorality, drug abuse, negligence, larceny, or malfeasance." (*Id.*, 2431-32). Under the unambiguous contract, BIV was required to pay de Saad the amounts owed under the contract unless it terminated her for a duly justified reason.

BIV never terminated de Saad's employment as provided by the contract.

To the contrary, in order to advance its own interests, it purposely refrained from terminating de Saad and kept the employment contract in effect.

BIV argues the contract could reasonably be interpreted to allow the bank to suspend de Saad without pay in May 1998 (after her arrest) through February 1, 2000, in light of the lack of final resolution of the charges against her. BIV bases this argument on the provision of the personnel manual which provided "Grounds for Immediate Dismissal or Suspension of Employment *Pending Clarification of Charges*:" including, "[c]onclusive evidence of dishonesty or involvement in a misdemeanor or felony." (*Id.*, 2451) (emphasis by underline in original, emphasis by italics supplied). BIV argues that ambiguity exists as to when the charges were "clarified," and that conclusive evidence of de Saad's involvement in a felony did not occur until she pled guilty to the structuring charge.

BIV's argument requires the Court to equate the term "clarification" with "resolution" or "disposition." Both lower courts found this result absurd based

upon the meaning of the term itself. (R.V.29, 5377; LVIIII, 7410). The trial court explained that under BIV's interpretation, the employer could "evade the bargained-for requirement to either terminate justifiably or compensate, by simply placing the employee on suspension indefinitely without any legitimate reason whatsoever until the term of the contract expired." (R.V.29, 5378). BIV's interpretation "entirely nullifies and renders meaningless the word 'clarification' as a term agreed upon by the parties that should be given effect." (*Id.*).

Moreover, as the Third District properly noted, the term clarify means "to make clear or easier to understand." (R.LVIIII, 7410). Both courts correctly concluded that the charges against de Saad were "clarified" in February 1999 by the Second Superseding Indictment, which placed BIV on notice of the money laundering and conspiracy charges and the facts giving rise to the money structuring charge, or certainly by the findings made in internal and external audits performed following the Indictment. (R.V.29, 5377; LVIIII, 7410). 18

Despite this knowledge, BIV intentionally did not terminate de Saad's employment contract.<sup>19</sup> In fact, eight months after learning of the allegations in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> BIV admitted that it was aware that de Saad had committed money structuring after the Second Superseding Indictment was filed. (R.V.34, 6377-78). Based upon the audits, BIV was fully satisfied that de Saad had violated bank policies and procedures by April 1999. (R.V.14, 2414-15; 2455; 2458-59; 2488-97).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> BIV improperly relies upon Judge Schwartz's concurring opinion as support for its unreasonable interpretation that it could indefinitely suspend de Saad. (IB, p. 41). Judge Schwartz simply pointed out that BIV waived any argument that the

Second Superseding Indictment, on November 14, 1999, BIV reaffirmed the contract in a letter from BIV's President, and advised de Saad that her contract remained <u>fully valid</u> and would not be renewed as of February 1, 2000:

As you know, under the terms of the contract referred to, you were suspended from employment and pay on May 25, 1998, by Banco Industrial de Venezuela, because of your arrest and subsequent filing of charges against you by the Federal Prosecutor's Office of the United States of America in the District of Los Angeles, California. The employment contract, nevertheless, was not terminated at that time, and therefore, although suspended, it has remained valid until now. Therefore, through this notice and pursuant to the aforementioned Articles of the referenced employment contract, on behalf of Banco Industrial de Venezuela, we hereby notify you that the Bank has decided not to renew your employment contract; consequently, it is terminated effective February 1, 2000, thereby meeting the requirement of two-months' notice established by said contract. (R.V.6, 863-65).

BIV also erroneously relies upon a resolution passed by BIV's board of directors just days after de Saad's arrest, as the resolution actually supports de Saad's position that she is entitled to all items owed under the contract. Through the resolution, the board did not terminate the contract but resolved to suspend de Saad without pay "with the understanding that if the findings against her taking place in U.S. Courts are negative, her remunerative payment will be acknowledged retroactively." (R.V.14, 2441-46). De Saad's acquittal of the money laundering charges was such a negative finding, and she was entitled to her retroactive

suspension without pay was, in effect a termination for cause, by its failure to raise such an argument in either court. (R.LVIIII, 7412-13) (Schwartz, J., concurring).

37

remunerative pay under both the employment contract and the resolution.

The lower courts thus correctly construed the employment contract and personnel manual in accordance with its plain terms, and properly granted summary judgment in de Saad's favor on the breach of contract claim.

#### B. No Material Facts in Dispute Regarding BIV's Affirmative Defenses.

BIV erroneously claims that summary judgment was precluded because issues remained as to its affirmative defenses. The bank contends that the district court failed to consider whether de Saad breached the contract first and whether she failed to mitigate her damages, asserting conflict with *Fabel v. Masterson*, 951 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); *Marshall Const., Ltd. v. Coastal Sheet Metal & Roofing, Inc.*, 569 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), and *Jones v. Sterile Prods. Corp.*, 572 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). The district court properly determined that BIV was the sole breaching party, and therefore had no reason to address BIV's other meritless affirmative defenses.

BIV also argues that de Saad breached a provision of the contract requiring her to "devote all her time and effort to the business of [BIV]" and a provision of the personnel manual requiring her to "avoid even the appearance of legal or ethical impropriety in all [her] actions." (IB, p. 42). BIV did not raise or argue these provisions in the appeal below, and this argument is therefore waived. *See* 

Coolen, 696 So. 2d at 742 n.2.<sup>20</sup>

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